

# Heart Failure Policy Network Terms of Reference

(Last approved 03 May 2023)

The Heart Failure Policy Network is an independent, multidisciplinary platform made possible with financial support from AstraZeneca, Vifor Pharma, Bayer AG and Boehringer Ingelheim The content produced by the Network is not biased to any specific treatment or therapy. All outputs are guided and endorsed by the Network's members. All members provide their time for free.



### **Contents**

1	Objectives	3
2	Background of the Network	3
3	Project-based approach	3
4	Roles within the Network	4
	4.1 Members	4
	4.2 Supporting Organisations	5
	4.3 Steering Committee	6
	4.4 Project Advisory Groups	7
	4.5 Sponsors	7
	4.5.1 Strategic Steering Committee Forum	7
	4.5.2 Projects	8
	4.5.3 Communications between sponsors and Secretariat	8
	4.5.4 Major sponsor benefits	9
	4.6 Secretariat	9
5	Remuneration of Members	11
6	Independence, objectivity and transparency	12
7	Contact	15



# 1 Objectives

The aim of the Heart Failure Policy Network is to drive a new generation of policies on heart failure (HF) in Europe.

The Heart Failure Policy Network ('the Network') is a unique group consisting of patient advocates, healthcare professionals, policymakers and other key stakeholders in Europe who work together to raise awareness of unmet needs surrounding heart failure (HF).

The overarching objectives of the Network are:

- to define what governments can do to help turn existing policy recommendations into concrete, sustainable action for the prevention, management and care of HF
- to champion the adoption of these recommendations at the European, national and local level, including the provision of support to national HF advocates.

# 2 Background of the Network

The Network was established in 2015 following a process of key stakeholder consultation as to the aims, objectives, working methods and governance of a multidisciplinary group on HF. In the same year, the Network's inaugural policy position paper, the <a href="Heart Failure Policy Toolkit">Heart Failure Policy Toolkit</a>, was launched in the European Parliament, providing an evidence-based and comprehensive overview of key challenges in HF and a proposal for the way forward.

# 3 Project-based approach

From 2017, the Network adopted a project-based approach whereby the Secretariat has the option to run multiple projects concurrently, with different or otherwise separate funders. This allows for sponsors with different but complementary policy interests within HF to form component parts of a broader and more comprehensive campaign. Projects may focus on specific policy themes, policy activities and/or geographical locations. Projects (in both conduct and scope) must adhere to the Terms of Reference set out herein and the values of the Network, and must include a 18% contribution to core Secretariat costs that may arise, proportional to the funding.

Within reason, there is no limit to the number of projects that could be run by the Network, provided that they are compatible with the Terms of Reference. The Secretariat (The Health Policy Partnership Ltd) will lead discussions with potential sponsors and will submit all major proposals to the Steering Committee for approval (see *Steering Committee*). Steering Committee members have the right of comment and veto on any proposed project.

The Secretariat will independently approve and action small work programmes and inform the Steering Committee at the next suitable juncture. Examples of small work programmes include the continuation or extension of existing programmes and events, and minor supporting budgets for expenses.



# 4 Roles within the Network

#### 4.1 Members

Role: to participate in the HFPN's work, and elevate the voice of the heart failure community

Membership of the HFPN is open to individuals from around the world who share the goals of the HFPN and/or are interested and able to take an active and constructive role in projects. The Secretariat will strive to have multidisciplinary societal representation in its membership.

Membership shall be confirmed by the Secretariat through appropriate correspondence (e.g. via email). Stakeholders that become Members will agree to the Terms of Reference, recognising the Secretariat as the executive and the chief authority in all external representation of the HFPN.

Members will be invited to demonstrate their support by:

- endorsing the HFPN's outputs and, where possible, helping to secure endorsement from the organisation(s) they are affiliated with
- helping the HFPN and other Members to disseminate outputs and other activities across their networks, online and in person
- providing the HFPN with updates relevant to the heart failure community, such as promising initiatives or advances in policy
- where appropriate and with the individual member's consent, being placed in CC in correspondence with decision-makers or public officials

The Secretariat will strive to support and elevate the voice of HFPN Members by:

- informing Members about relevant events, research and advocacy opportunities via regular email updates
- providing Members with a clear statement of our goals, mission, funding and programme at the beginning of each year
- providing materials such as flyers, infographics etc. for Members to use in their correspondence with decision-makers and stakeholders
- showcasing Member profiles, and where appropriate, their work, via member spotlights, our social media accounts, website, guest blogs and/or newsletter
- inviting Members to participate in occasional surveys to share their priorities and reflections regarding HF and feed into the HFPN's programme development



- offering opportunities to provide feedback and contribute to key outputs of the HFPN, such as participating in Project Advisory Groups and interviews and notifying Members of such opportunities that may interest them
- facilitating connections among Members and providing networking opportunities (e.g. workshops, events).

There is no limit to the number of Members. If a Member no longer wishes to be considered part of the HFPN, they are free to leave at any time by notifying the Secretariat in writing.

## **4.2 Supporting Organisations**

Role: to support HFPN activities and elevate the voice of the heart failure community

This tier of support of the HFPN is open to organisations from around the world who share the goals of the HFPN.

Status of Supporting Organisations shall be confirmed by the Secretariat through appropriate correspondence (e.g. via email). Supporting Organisations will agree to the Terms of Reference, recognising the Secretariat as the executive and external representation of the HFPN.

The Secretariat will seek endorsement of major HFPN outputs from Supporting Organisations.

Supporting Organisations will furthermore be invited to demonstrate their support by:

- helping the HFPN and its Members to disseminate outputs and other activities across their organisation's networks
- endorsing the HFPN's outputs (please note endorsement will be sought on a case-by-case basis)
- providing the HFPN with organisational updates relevant to the heart failure community, such as promising initiatives or advances in policy.
- nominating an individual to provide input and views from the organisation, and to act as a point of contact

The Secretariat will strive to support and elevate the voice of Supporting Organisations by:

- providing a clear statement of our goals, mission, funding and programme at the beginning of the year
- presenting programme overviews or topic of interest to the organisation's board, seminars or conferences as requested



- where appropriate, showcasing the work of Supporting Organisations, for example, via HFPN social media accounts, website, guest blogs and/or newsletter
- informing Supporting Organisations about relevant events, research and advocacy opportunities via email
- facilitating connections among Supporting Organisations and Members and providing networking opportunities (e.g. workshops, events).

There is no limit to the number of Supporting Organisations. If a Supporting Organisation no longer wishes to be considered part of the HFPN, they are free to leave at any time by notifying the Secretariat in writing.

## 4.3 Steering Committee

Role: to act as a senior advisory committee with whom the Secretariat discusses key strategic and project decisions relating to the future of the Network and its goals

The Steering Committee comprises a group of six to eight highly active or founding members of the Network. Participation in the Steering Committee is by invitation from the Secretariat, who will ensure that the composition of the Steering Committee is representative of all stakeholder groups with an interest in HF and clinical disciplines relevant to HF.

The Steering Committee shall be advisory. Beyond their individual conduct, members of the Steering Committee shall accept no liability for the broader conduct of the Network in public life, responsibility for which shall rest fully with the Secretariat.

Activities of the Steering Committee:

- **Approval of major Network projects**: in line with the project-based approach, the Secretariat will provide the Steering Committee with a proposal for any new major project, for its approval or rejection.
- Consultation on breadth of Steering Committee membership: when provided with details of new membership, the existing Steering Committee shall approve or reject proposed members against the Terms of Reference.
- Editorial scrutiny over all significant Network outputs: the Secretariat will present major outputs to the Steering Committee for scrutiny and consultation to ensure that all work represents an objective consensus consistent with the Terms of Reference.
- Participation in annual policy forum with sponsors: from time to time, the
  Secretariat will organise a Strategic Steering Committee Forum. This meeting is not
  mandatory but will offer a discussion of the HF policy landscape and strategic
  priorities of the Heart Failure Policy Network programme. To note: project-specific
  information, such as proposals, development of outputs or composition of Project
  Advisory Groups, will not be discussed.

The Secretariat will organise between two and four teleconference meetings and, ideally, one face-to-face meeting per year for the Steering Committee. An agenda and relevant materials



will be distributed to all Steering Committee members via email. These will be timed to allow the Steering Committee adequate time to read or respond to the documents.

A member of the Steering Committee may resign and return to membership at any time, provided that the decision is made in writing.

## 4.4 Project Advisory Groups

Role: to enable the Secretariat to conduct in-depth consultation of selected, interested members in key project outputs

During scoping discussions and upon confirmation of project work, the Secretariat will appoint a list of Network Members (and selected additional experts, where appropriate) to constitute a multidisciplinary pan-national Project Advisory Group for that project.

Project Advisory Groups will be conducted in alignment with the Network Terms of Reference. They will meet (virtually or in person) at or around key project milestones to assess and advise on the progress of the proposed activities against the agreed scope and any pre-specified key performance indicators.

Project Advisory Group members will be asked to read and provide in-depth comments on specific materials (e.g. document drafts, project plans, research briefs and/or final outputs) to ensure all outputs and activities reflect a broad, multidisciplinary and evidence-based consensus, and are justified, balanced and reflective of individual members' professional and personal experience. The Secretariat will, where required, pursue individual communication with Project Advisory Group members to acquire detailed feedback.

Prior to finalisation, or at the key stages of the project, the Secretariat will ask Project Advisory Group members for their approval of the final work product or the interim progress report. Upon finalisation, Project Advisory Group members are expected to publicly endorse the major public outputs for their respective projects and to give their consent for their involvement to be published.

## 4.5 Sponsors

Role: to fund the activities of the Network, including core costs, and offer strategic insight at appropriate forums

#### 4.5.1 Strategic Steering Committee Forum

The Secretariat recognises the life sciences industry as an essential stakeholder in shaping the strategic policy environment in HF. Major sponsors are invited to send a suitable representative (from Medical, Patient or Government Affairs) to attend the Strategic Steering Committee Forum. In this forum, the sponsor's representatives may contribute the strategic vision of the life sciences industry to group discussions of the HF policy landscape and are encouraged to comment on areas of mutual interest that may be the subject of future HFPN sponsorship.



However, sponsor representatives must:

- abide by and respect the Terms of Reference and the commitments made therein to independence, transparency and objectivity of the Network and its outputs
- not seek to override final editorial decisions by the Secretariat and Project Advisory Groups, nor demand adjustments to ongoing project work of the Heart Failure Policy Network.

For the avoidance of doubt, representatives of the sponsors will not be considered as members of the Steering Committee and have no right to claim reimbursement (see <u>Section 5</u>. Remuneration of Members).

#### 4.5.2 Projects

Sponsors may be invited to comment on major outputs of projects for which they have provided funding. The Secretariat will share drafts of core project materials (e.g. reports) at pre-final stages, at such a time as the Project Advisory Group has been invited to comment in full.

Sponsors shall engage with any drafts from a whole-system perspective, as part of a shared stakeholder endeavour to enhance societal benefits, founded on objective analysis. Examples of appropriate comments from sponsors include those relating to the accuracy of any given analyses or findings, apparent omissions of relevant data or case studies from grey and scientific literature, or relevant environmental knowledge and learning (e.g. related to organisational and delivery barriers or effective engagement strategies with decision-makers).

Full editorial control of Network outputs and activities lies with the Secretariat, which retains the right to amend or reject any comments from sponsors (see *Independence*, *objectivity and transparency*). Ultimately, the Secretariat will assess the relevance and validity of sponsors' comments to the overarching Heart Failure Policy Network mission statement. For example, comments seen to promote the commercial interests of the sponsor in an unbalanced fashion, directly or indirectly, will be rejected. In addition, the Secretariat will not accept to be bound by any recommendation or veto resulting from legal or scientific review processes conducted by any sponsor. Comments from sponsors that are accepted (i.e. included) in the development of a Network report will always be independently validated by the Project Advisory Group in a subsequent draft.

Sponsors will have no contact with members of the Project Advisory Group in relation to Network matters, nor will they be included in any correspondence with the Project Advisory Group.

#### 4.5.3 Communications between sponsors and Secretariat

At project initiation, the Secretariat will agree appropriate whole-programme key performance indicators with sponsors to ensure clear operational measures of success are agreed between all parties, towards which the Secretariat will endeavour in line with the Terms of Reference. The Secretariat will freely share such indicators (and any assessment of performance) with Members as it sees fit, or if requested by Members.



The Secretariat will coordinate dedicated monthly updates for sponsors, including a presentation of deliverables and timelines. If applicable, the Secretariat will share educational insights into HF policy and key findings. The Secretariat may also introduce national affiliates from different sponsors to one another and to stakeholders, where this assists in the development of separate, national-level alliances to advance HF policy.

Sponsors may submit interested and relevant stakeholders for consideration by the Secretariat for engagement in the Network. This is not contingent upon funding. The Secretariat will consider expressions of interest from any interested party, subject to vetting processes and final decision by the Secretariat.

#### 4.5.4 Major sponsor benefits

The Secretariat will judge whether a sponsor is a 'major sponsor' based on total contributions, and in recognition of this high level of support will offer the following benefits:

- Option for quarterly online educational sessions with major sponsors' internal affiliates to enable them to better consider the case for aligned policy activities in their fields/geographies. For example, the Secretariat may present key findings and updates on the Network's schedule of public events.
- Acceptance of speaker requests at events organised by sponsors, both public and internal, to share educational materials and insights from the Heart Failure Policy Network programme, where such events seek to further policy recognition of HF. The Secretariat will accept reasonable reimbursement of travel and other expenses for such engagements, should they arise.

It is important to note that in the interest of objectivity and independence, the Secretariat is not exclusively bound to any sponsors and may accept invitations to speak and/or serve in an advisory role for other life sciences stakeholders, judged on merit, and where such an event/role aligns with the Network's core objectives and Terms of Reference.

Sponsors will be listed in the HFPN disclaimer on all outputs, in order of funding amount. When a sponsor's term comes to an end, their name will remain in the HFPN disclaimer for six months after the end of the contract, at which point it will be removed from all outputs going forward.

#### 4.6 Secretariat

Role: to provide overall coordination, delivery and strategic leadership for the Network; negotiate sponsorship and administer finances/resource allocation; act as chief editor of all outputs; and represent the Network in public life

The Secretariat is provided by The Health Policy Partnership Ltd, which will be funded to provide support for the overall organisation and leadership of the Network. The Health Policy Partnership is responsible for allocating budgets for individual projects to cover any expenses or staff costs that may arise over the course of the project, including from document design, travel expenses, venue hire, organised catering and performance of the core Secretariat function.



The Secretariat's role will be in relation to the following:

- Strategic leadership: routinely optimising plans to deliver on the Heart Failure Policy Network core mission statement and consulting on such plans among Members, Steering Committee and sponsors etc. as outlined above
- **Nomination** of the Steering Committee and Project Advisory Groups
- Recruitment and management of membership: continuing to identify and recruit Members to the Network, overseeing the validation process and maintaining accurate records of membership
- Administrative support: providing comprehensive Secretariat support to the Network; running the Network as a cohesive and committed group consistent with the Terms of Reference; diarising and facilitating meetings; setting and amending work plans and staff allocations; engaging with sponsors' internal processes to secure release of funds; and providing any logistical support, processing of expenses and other administrative tasks, as required
- **Research and drafting**: developing all materials necessary for the smooth running of all Network activities and events, and facilitating co-development of all final outputs with Members, with the aim of reaching a consensus opinion
- External representation: actively supporting liaison with a growing circle of relevant external stakeholders to advance the goals of the Network and, where useful, playing standing roles in external advisory panels or working groups
- **Communication**: leading the dissemination of all outputs; developing social media campaigns; maintaining the Network website and quarterly newsletter; and engaging Members in the co-development of launch planning and delivery phases
- **Transparency**: providing any relevant information for transparency reporting as appropriate and required by funders or Members. This will include the maintenance of the Network's record within the European Transparency Register and other national registers, where applicable
- Sponsor liaison: updating sponsors at structured intervals, for the purposes of contracting (e.g. agreeing aligned and mutually compatible procurement and funding agreements, in line with the Terms of Reference), approaches to potential new funders and project-specific progress and achievements to date (e.g. current Members, notification of launch plans and group teleconferences, expected outputs).



# 5 Remuneration of Members

All Members participate in Network activities pro bono. Accordingly, no remuneration will be awarded.

The Secretariat will seek to fund and reimburse any reasonable expenses incurred by Members as a result of participating in Network events or face-to-face meetings. This includes standard-fare air or rail travel, business-standard accommodation, local use of taxis from or to airports and railway stations, meeting venues and accommodation, and reasonable refreshments and sustenance. The Secretariat reserves the right to impose an expense cap (e.g. €40 per day) on sustenance. In the interests of convenience and best use of funds, Members are asked to agree all travel arrangements or similar expenses with the Secretariat in advance.

Please note: any such reimbursement must be compliant with national laws or regulations regarding industry funding for this project.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Secretariat will not reimburse the representatives of sponsors.



# 6 Independence, objectivity and transparency

In relation to the Network's operation and relevant standards in public life, the Terms of Reference assert the following:

#### Independence:

- The Secretariat shall freely and continually develop strategies and plans to advance the Heart Failure Policy Network and its policy goals, consulting as it sees fit among stakeholders.
- The Secretariat shall freely enter into external partnerships as may be aligned to the Terms of Reference and will approach suitable sources of funding or other support as it judges useful to do so.
- Final editorial control rests wholly with The Health Policy Partnership, acting as the Secretariat of the Network. All outputs are guided and endorsed by Members of the Network involved in Project Advisory Groups, who shall comment freely.
- No sponsor (nor their nominated representative) will have any right of editorial control over the outputs of the Network. For the avoidance of doubt, this includes no right to veto or amend outputs as a result of legal or scientific review by any sponsor.
- Within the scope of each agreed project, including core funding, the Secretariat is solely responsible for the manner in which funding is disbursed.
- Although highly unlikely, in the event the Secretariat decides to terminate the Network, this decision will be communicated to all Members and the Network will be considered disbanded indefinitely with immediate effect.

#### **Editorial objectivity and balance:**

- The Network is for educational purposes and will not promote the products of any sponsor, either directly or indirectly.
- The content produced by the Network is not biased to any specific treatment or therapy. Funding should not be conditional upon the prescription, supply, sale or consumption of therapeutic products being developed or marketed by sponsors.
- Outputs must be objective, balanced, accurate, and not misleading or deceptive.
- The Secretariat shall be responsible for an appropriate and comprehensive process
  of research and analysis to drive multidisciplinary consensus out into the public
  domain. Research and drafting processes will, at the discretion of the Secretariat,
  involve expert consultation relevant to the topic.
- All outputs of the Network should accurately represent the consensus position adopted by the Steering Committee, Project Advisory Groups and, to the greatest extent possible, the wider membership. The Secretariat commits to making all reasonable efforts to secure a consensus during the drafting and development process. Final judgement in this matter will be exercised by the Secretariat.



- In certain circumstances, Network outputs may encompass therapeutic areas or technologies in HF in which sponsors hold commercial or strategic interests. In such cases, final editorial decisions will be judged by the Secretariat in an evidence-based and consensus-driven process, in consultation with Members.
- Reference shall not be made to a single product, nor will any comparative
  assessments be made in relation to relative clinical effectiveness or safety as regards
  the choice of treatment for HF. In presenting any discussion of effectiveness of
  treatment, the Secretariat shall in the first instance be guided by scientific guidelines
  as to proven treatment models.
- All substantive outputs of the Network will acknowledge the Project Advisory Group as contributors, as well as any general Members or non-Member individuals participating in the work.

#### **Transparency:**

- The Secretariat is responsible for ensuring that the Network and its activities are compliant with all relevant laws, rules and regulations (including any codes of practice or other guidelines) generally followed by life sciences companies in each relevant country.
- The Secretariat will disclose publicly all financial support provided to the Network.
- For outputs related to specific projects, the Secretariat will publicly disclose which sponsor(s) have provided funding.
- The Secretariat shall maintain an accurate record of the Network activities and its financing, as per the requirements of the European Transparency Register and other transparency registers at the national level, as judged relevant by the Secretariat.
- All Members of the Network, as well as all those involved in any activity coordinated through the Network, are required to comply with any such laws, rules or guidelines for the duration of their membership and/or during the course of their participation. They must communicate immediately to the Secretariat any contraventions that may have occurred, or may reasonably be anticipated to occur, to the very best of their knowledge.
- Noting its responsibilities (and legal accountability) above, the Secretariat will retain final authority over all Network activities and outputs, and reserve the ultimate right to award or withdraw membership.
- While the Secretariat will provide all final Network materials free to the public domain, ownership and intellectual property generated by the Network will reside with the Secretariat, specifically The Health Policy Partnership (including electronic or hardcopy documents, logos, graphics, website URLs, social media feeds, logos and trademarks, and conference banners).
- The Secretariat places enormous value on the trust and goodwill offered by each Member as we work together. Accordingly, each Member agrees:



- to abide by the declarations made above, to the best of their knowledge and ability
- that all discussions within the Network (e.g. during development and drafting stages) are to be considered 'off the record', unless otherwise stated.



# 7 Contact

The Health Policy Partnership will act as the main point of contact for the Heart Failure Policy Network.

Managing Director Ed Harding (Network Director for HFPN) and Associate Director Kirsten Budig (Programme Lead for HFPN) can be reached as per below.

Mr Ed Harding

Managing Director, The Health Policy Partnership

ed.harding@hpolicy.com

T: +44 (0) 203 857 3643

68–69 St Martin's Lane, London WC2N 4JS, United Kingdom

Ms Kirsten Budig

Associate Director, The Health Policy Partnership

kirsten.budig@hpolicy.com

T: +44 (0) 203 857 3643

68–69 St Martin's Lane, London WC2N 4JS, United Kingdom